#### Case No. 74532

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellant,

VS.

U.S. BANK, N.A., a National Banking Association as Trustee for the Certificate Holders of Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2006-AR4; and NV WEST SERVICING, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company, as Trustee for Nashville Trust 2270, inclusive,

Respondents.

Electronically Filed May 22 2018 07:56 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### **APPEAL**

#### **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1). The District Court entered judgment in favor U.S. Bank, N.A., A National Banking Association As Trustee For The Certificate Holders Of Wells Fargo Asset Securities Corporation, Mortgage Pass-Through Certificates, Series 2006-AR4; and NV West Servicing, LLC, A Nevada Limited Liability Company, As Trustee for Nashville Trust 2270 on October 16, 2017, and the notice of entry of that order was entered on October 20, 2017. This order was a final order. SFR Investment Pool 1, LLC, timely noticed its appeal on November 17, 2017.

#### **APPELLANT'S ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to NRAP 28(a)(5), SFR states that this case contains "matters raising as a principal issue a question of first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law[.]" Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(10) this case also involves "matters raising as a principal issue a question of statewide public importance." NRAP 17(a)(11). This case involves a unique issue of law as to the whether a court can use facts which have been expunged—as in a retroactive annulment of a bankruptcy stay, thereby wiping clean the underlying fact of a stay violation—in doing an equitable analysis of foreclosure sale. Additionally, this appeals deals with whether the sale price was adequate or if the Bank produced any evidence that the sale was burden with fraud, oppression or unfairness that brought about a low sale price at auction other than the expunged bankruptcy stay.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1) Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law in considering a "violation of the automatic bankruptcy stay" as part of its equity analysis after the stay had been retroactively annulled by a Bankruptcy Court's order, which expressly stated "Any postpetition acts taken by Movant to enforce its remedies regarding the Property do not constitute a violation of the stay."
- 2) Whether the District Court erred in voiding the Association sale when the only purported evidence of fraud, unfairness or oppression it found was the violation of the automatic stay which has been annulled by the bankruptcy court, and the district court did not determine that those facts accounted for or brought about the price paid at auction prior to doing a *Shadow Wood* analysis.
- 3) Whether the District Court erred as a matter of law in not recognizing and giving deference to SFR's BFP status.
- 4) Whether the District Court erred in determining the price paid by SFR was inadequate.
- 5) Whether the District Court erred in voiding the Association's sale and deeming the Bank's sale as proper, valid and enforceable.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case involves the non-judicial foreclosure of 2270 Nashville Avenue, Henderson, NV 89052. On January 5, 2006, a deed of trust ("DOT") was recorded identifying Lucas Parks as the borrowers ("Borrower"). (2AA\_0295.) After the Borrowers became delinquent on assessments due to Copper Ridge Community Association (the "Association"), the Association foreclosed on its validly recorded lien. (2AA\_0295.) At the Association foreclosure sale, SFR placed the highest cash bid of \$14,000.00. (See 2AA\_0299.) However, during this time the borrower had filed for Chapter 11 Bankruptcy on August 23, 2010, in California. *In re Richard Parks and Lucy Parks*, Case No. 8:10-bk-21738-TA (Bankr. C.D. Cal.).

On May 24, 2012, while the bankruptcy case was open, the Association, through its agent NAS, recorded a Notice of Delinquent Assessment Lien. (1AA\_238.) NAS also recorded a Notice of Default and Election to Sell and Notice of Foreclosure Sale, without first seeking leave of the bankruptcy court. (1AA\_54-55; see 3AA\_253.)\_This Bankruptcy was unknown to SFR at the time it purchased the Property.

On March 22, 2013, SFR Investments Pool 1. LLC filed a complaint for quiet title and injunctive relief. The District Court dismissed SFR complaint and SFR

appealed. While the case was on appeal, NDSC foreclosed on the property, sold the Property to Nashville Trust 2270, NV West Servicing, LLC as Trustee.

After the *SFR* decision of 2014, this case was remanded by the Nevada Supreme Court. Following remand, SFR filed a Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay in the California Bankruptcy Court. 4AA\_915—5AA-983. Over the Bank's objection, the Bankruptcy Court granted SFR equitable relief by way of Order Granting the Retroactive Annulment of the Automatic Stay on May 15, 2017 and Notice of that order was filed in the District Court case on May 19, 2017. (5AA\_1137-1143.) After this order, and after ordering additional briefing on the bankruptcy issue, on June 6, 2017, the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Bank and NV West. This appeal deals with the subsequent order by the District Court.

### FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following is the factual background surrounding this appeal.

#### A. General Facts

DATE	FACTS
1991	Nevada adopted Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act as NRS 116, including NRS 116.3116(2).
July 1, 1997	The Association perfected and gave notice of its lien by recording its Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and

	Restrictions ("CC&Rs").1
October 5, 1998	The Annexation Amendment subjecting the Property to the CC&Rs was recorded. <sup>2</sup>
January 5, 2006	Grant, Bargain, Sale Deeds, transferring the Property to the borrower, was recorded. <sup>3</sup>
January 5, 2006	Deed of Trust in favor of Wells Fargo ("DOT") was recorded. <sup>4</sup>
July 12, 2010	Corporate Assignment of the DOT to the Bank was recorded. <sup>5</sup>
July 12, 2010	Substitution of Trustee, substituting National Default Servicing Corporation ("NDSC") as Trustee under the DOT is recorded. <sup>6</sup>
May 24, 2012	Nevada Association Services, Inc. ("NAS") as agent to the Association records a Notice of Delinquent Assessment ("NODA"). <sup>7</sup>
June 7, 2012	Another Assignment of Mortgage recorded purporting to transfer the January 5, 2006 Deed of Trust from Wells Fargo to the Bank. <sup>8</sup>
July 19, 2012	After more than 30 days elapsed from the date of mailing of the operative NODA, NAS recorded a Notice of Default ("NOD").9
	The Bank and the borrower received the NOD. <sup>10</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> <u>1AA\_126-193.</u> <sup>2</sup> <u>1AA\_195-198.</u>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 1AA\_200-205.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 1AA\_207-222.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 1AA\_234.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 1AA\_236.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 1AA\_238.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 1AA\_240.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 1AA\_242-243. <sup>10</sup> 2AA\_245-261.

	The Bank took no action after it received the NOD. <sup>11</sup> Wells Fargo, N.A. does not dispute that the NOD was in Wells Fargo, N.A.'s folder as of July 2012. <sup>12</sup>
August 7, 2012	The Bankruptcy Court granted the Bank's Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay. However, the Bank did nothing to foreclose on its deed of trust. <sup>13</sup>
	After more than 90 days elapsed from the date of the mailing of the NOD, NAS recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale ("NOS"). 14
February 2, 2013	The Notice of Sale was mailed to numerous parties, including the borrower and the Bank. <sup>15</sup>
	Wells Fargo, N.A. does not dispute that the NOS was in Wells Fargo, N.A.'s folder as of March 2013. <sup>16</sup>
	The Notice of Sale was posted on the Property in a conspicuous place. <sup>17</sup>
February 2013	The Notice of Sale was thereafter posted in three public places in Clark County for 20 consecutive days. 18
	The Notice of Sale was published in the Nevada Legal News for three consecutive weeks. <sup>19</sup>
March 1, 2013	Association foreclosure sale took place and SFR placed the winning bid of \$14,000.00. <sup>20</sup> This amount was paid by SFR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 2AA\_303-313, 51:10-16.

 $<sup>^{12}</sup>$  *Id.* at 28:19 - 29:15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 4AA\_932, ¶6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> 2AA\_253-261.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 2AA\_307 at 32:10 – 33:7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> 2AA\_263-266.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> 2AA\_295-297; see 2AA\_299.

	There were multiple qualified bidders in attendance at the sale. <sup>22</sup> No one acting on behalf of the Bank attended the sale. <sup>23</sup>
	Trustee's Deed Upon Sale ("Foreclosure Deed") vesting title in SFR. <sup>24</sup>
	SFR has no reason to doubt the recitals in the Foreclosure Deed. <sup>25</sup> If there were any issues with delinquency or noticing, none of these were communicated to SFR. <sup>26</sup>
March 6, 2013	Further, neither SFR, nor its agent, have any relationship with the Association besides owning property within the community. <sup>27</sup>
	Similarly, neither SFR, nor its agent, have any relationship with NAS, the Association's agent, beyond attending auctions, bidding, and occasionally purchasing properties at publicallyheld auctions conducted by NAS. <sup>28</sup>
	The Bank never contacted NAS prior to the sale. <sup>29</sup>
Prior to March 3, 2013	The Bank never paid or tried to pay any portion of the Association's lien. <sup>30</sup>
	The Bank did not challenge the foreclosure sale in any civil or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 2AA\_292-293.

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$  *Id.* at ¶ 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> 2AA\_312 at 54:11-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> 2AA\_272-276.

 $<sup>^{25}</sup>$  *Id.* at ¶ 13.

 $<sup>^{26}</sup>$  *Id.* at ¶ 14.

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$  *Id.* at ¶ 16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id.* at ¶ 17. <sup>29</sup> 2AA\_309 at 51:20 – 52:4. <sup>30</sup> *Id.* at 52:11-14.

	administrative proceeding. <sup>31</sup>
	No release of the superpriority portion of the Association's lien was recorded against the Property.
	No lis pendens was recorded against the Property.
March 8, 2013	NDSC on behalf of Bank, recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale purporting to sell the Property at a Bank foreclosure sale to be held on April 1, 2013. <sup>32</sup>
March 22, 2013	SFR files a Complaint for quiet title and to enjoin the Bank from holding its foreclosure sale. <sup>33</sup>
March 22, 2013	SFR filed its Notice of Lis Pendens on the Property. 34
June 11, 2013	Order entered dismissing SFR's complaint with prejudice and Expunging SFR's Lis Pendens. <sup>35</sup>
	Neither the Bank nor NDSC recorded a new Notice of Sale after the Order expunging SFR's Lis Pendens was recorded.
July 12, 2013	SFR filed a Notice of Appeal from the June 11, 2013 order. <sup>36</sup>
July 18, 2013	NDSC foreclosed on the property, sold the Property to Nashville Trust 2270, NV West Servicing, LLC as Trustee. <sup>37</sup>
July 31, 2013	Trustee's Deed Upon Sale is recorded purporting to put title to the Property in Nashville Trust #2270, NV West Servicing,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> *Id.* at 54:18-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See 3AA\_516:12-14. The Bank suggested it had filed a request for judicial notice contemporaneously with its Motion for Summary Judgment, but no such document was ever filed. For this brief, SFR presumes the information regarding this document as cited in the motion is correct.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> 1AA\_002-012.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> 2AA\_268-270.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> 2AA\_316-318.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> SFR Investments Pool 1 v. U.S. Bank, N.A., No. 63614 (Nev. April 15, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> 2AA\_272-276.

	LLC, as Trustee. 38
December 10, 2014	Nevada Supreme Court reverses and remands the June 11, 2013 order dismissing SFR's Complaint.
August 10, 2016	Bank filed a motion for summary judgment, for the first time asserting a violation of the automatic stay. <sup>39</sup>

#### B. The Bankruptcy Issues

On August 23, 2010, Richard and Lucy Parks, the former homeowners of the Property, filed their voluntary petition for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in the United States Bankruptcy Court, Central District of California. (4AA\_931, ¶1.) Neither the Association nor its foreclosing agents were listed as creditors in the Debtors' Petition. As such, neither NAS nor the Association were included in the mailing matrix for the case. (Id. at ¶2.) On July 2, 2012, The Bank filed it Motion for Relief from the Automatic Stay and asserted that the Debtors had no equity in the Property and it was not necessary for an effective reorganization. (4AA 931, ¶5.) As set forth above, the Association recorded its notices while the bankruptcy stay was in place, both before and after the Bank's motion for relief. There is no evidence that the Bank lodged a complaint with the Bankruptcy Court or the trustee regarding the stay violations. SFR had no knowledge of the bankruptcy issues when it purchased the Property at the Association foreclosure auction. (4AA\_938 at ¶ 8.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> *Id*.

<sup>39</sup> 

The Bank did not make any allegations regarding the bankruptcy stay violation in its amended answer and counterclaim. (*See* 1AA\_31-58.) The Bank never moved to amend its Answer and Counterclaim prior to the close of discovery to make the allegations. It was only in its first motion for summary judgment did the Bank raise the issue, arguing that the Association's foreclosure was void. (*See* 4AA at 932, ¶15.)

On January 24, 2017, SFR filed a motion in the Bankruptcy Court in the Central District of California seeking equitable relief to retroactively annul the automatic stay. (4AA\_914-5aA\_983.) The motion was served on the Bank through its bankruptcy counsel and directly by U.S. Mail. (5AA\_977-983.) Despite this, the Bank "argued it was not made aware of SFR's request to annul the automatic stay" until SFR filed its opposition to the Bank's motion. (6aA\_1266, at ¶28.) The Bank opposed the motion.

After a notice and hearing, considering the Bank's opposition, the Bankruptcy Court granted the motion for retroactive relief, thereby annulling any violation by the Association taken as to the Property. (5AA\_1136-1143.) The order annulled the stay retroactive to the Petition Date, August 23, 2010, stating that "[a]ny postpetition acts taken by Movant to enforce its remedies regarding the Property do not constitue a violation of the stay." Further, the relief also applies "for any and all actions in support of the foreclosure taken with respect to the Property by the Copper Ridge

Community Association and/or its agent Nevada Association Services." (*Id.*) SFR filed a notice of the bankruptcy order on May 19, 2017. (5AA\_1136-1143.)

#### C. The District Court's Order

Following full briefing on the parties' motions for summary judgment,<sup>40</sup> and additional briefing on the effect of the retroactive annulment and "fraud, unfairness, or oppression" the District Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Bank. (6AA\_1261-1272.)

While the District Court found that the Association, NAS, or SFR did not know of the bankruptcy proceedings, it also made a finding that such information was not "unavailable" to SFR, despite having been given information that to obtain such knowledge one would need a PACER (federal court system) account. (See 6AA 1265; 6AA 1250.) The District Court concluded that the price paid by SFR was 'inadequate." (6AA 1269.) The District Court stated it "must still balance the under equities Golden ν. Tomiyasu, 79 Nev. 503. 514 (1963)." (Id.) While the District Court recognized that there must be "evidence of fraud, unfainess, or oppression related to the sale," it did not say how that evidence must

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> For MSJ's see 1AA\_97-2AA\_318 (SFR MSJ); 2AA\_319-3AA503 (Ass'n MSJ); 3AA\_509-665 (Bank MSJ). All motions were opposed and replies filed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> 5AA\_1209-6AA\_1247 (Bank Supplement); 6AA\_1248-1256 (SFR Supplement).

affect the sale. (Id.) The District Court determined its job was to look at "what was reasonably foreseeable at the time of the HOA foreclosure sale as to the status of the Property." (Id.) The District Court did not consider how, if there was fraud, unfairness, or oppression, it brought about and accounted for the price obtained at the auction, as required under Golden. And under its incomplete analysis, the District Court determined that even though there is no stay violation, due to retroactive annulment "there is no evidence before the Court that US bank or its predecessor had any knowledge at the tiem of the HOA foreclosure sale to SFR that years later SFR would seek and obtain a retroactive annulment of the automatic stay." (Id. at 1268.) The District Court then said that the sale was conducted in violation of the stay and that constituted evidence of fraud, unfairness, or oppression realted to the sale." (Id. at 1269.) In other words, while stating it recognized that the retroactive annulment made it so no violation occurred, the District Court considered the nowirrelevant stay violation in making its conclusion. The District Court did not find that the sale was improperly conducted under the statute. The Bank presented no evidence and the District Court made no findings that the Bank would have done anything differently if there had not been a bankruptcy or that it relied on Association's actions during the Bankruptcy to preserved its purported interest in the Property.

The District Court did not base its ruling on anything other than the non-existent stay violation. And, using that, the District Court voided the foreclosure sale (6AA\_1269) and concluded that the sale to NV West by US Bank was valid.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Court should reverse and remand the District Court's order for the following reasons:

First, the District Court relied heavily on the fact that a Bankruptcy Stay was in place during the time of the foreclosure. However, this Bankruptcy Stay was retroactively annulled. This means it is the same as if the Association had obtained the Bankruptcy Court's permission to lift the stay and then proceeded with the its foreclosure. Put simply, no stay violation ever occurred.

Despite this, and despite recognizing that the Bankruptcy Court had annulled the stay violation, the District Court chose to still consider the fact of the stay violation in its equity analysis, stating "there is no evidence before the Court that US Bank or its predecessor had any knowledge at the time of the HOA foreclosure sale to SFR that years later SFR would seek and obtain a retroactive annulment of the automatic stay." (6AA\_1268.)

Second, no fraud oppression or unfairness surrounded the foreclosure nor was the purchase price inadequate. The only evidence of fraud oppression or unfairness was alleged violation of the Bankruptcy stay. While, this was retroactively annulled, the Bank failed to show how these brought about a low price a foreclosure. However, this Court does not need to get to inadequacy if no fraud, oppression of unfairness undermined the sale.

Finally, the District Court ignored SFR's Bona Fide Purchaser ("BFP") status when Nevada affords strong favor to BFPs in quiet title matters, so strong that such a finding trumps any equitable relief being sought by a complaining party. *Shadow Wood HOA v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp*, 132 Nev. \_\_\_\_\_\_, 366 P.3d 1105, 1115 (2016). The district court granted equity to the Bank even though it knew not only of the bankruptcy and the alleged violation by the Association, yet did not complain to the bankruptcy trustee or court in an effort to stop the sale. But the District Court did not afford SFR the same weight where SFR had no notice of the bankruptcy and, as soon as it was made aware, went to the bankruptcy court seeking equity to have the automatic stay retroactively annulled.

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