### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; AND COPPER RIDGE COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION,

Appellants,

Case No. 74532 Electronically Filed DistrictJ0/030/20/08 04:14 p.m. A-13-6729220068 A. Brown A-13-682624 of Supreme Court

vs.

U.S. BANK, N.A., A NATIONAL BANKING ASSOCIATION AS TRUSTEE FOR THE CERTIFICATE HOLDERS OF WELLS FARGO ASSET SECURITIES CORPORATION, MORTGAGE PASS-THROUGH CERTIFICATES, SERIES 2006-AR4; AND NV WEST SERVICING, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY, AS TRUSTEE FOR NASHVILLE TRUST 2270,

Respondents.

#### APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Joanna S. Kishner

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

#### **Summary of the Argument**

This Court should affirm the district court's determination that the HOA foreclosure sale was commercially unreasonable based on the combination of the inadequacy of price and the unfairness of sale's violation of the automatic bankruptcy stay while U.S. Bank complied.

SFR does not dispute the disparity in value, but rather argues in response that there is no such thing as an inadequate price in the context of a forced sale – only the price actually paid. SFR's position is

-9-

at odds with more than fifty years of this Court's jurisprudence analyzing adequacy of price in the context of forced sales. This Court has never held that no price can ever be inadequate because value and the actual price paid are necessarily the same thing. SFR's position is incorrect, untenable, and flatly inconsistent with Nevada law.

Regarding the stay violation, SFR's appeal depends on the false premise that the annulment of the bankruptcy stay trumps all other considerations of commercial reasonableness under Nevada law. However, the fact of the retroactive annulment does not control the district court's equitable analysis concerning the fairness of the sale. The bankruptcy court annulled the stay violation years after it happened, but that decision cannot displace the district court's ability to decide whether the otherwise-valid sale should be invalidated under Nevada law.

This Court has held on multiple occasions that where price "inadequacy is palpable and great, very slight additional evidence of unfairness or irregularity is sufficient to authorize the granting of the relief sought." *Golden v. Tomiyasu*, 79 Nev. 503, at 515, 387 P.2d 989, 995 (1963) (internal citation omitted, emphasis supplied); *see also* 

-10-

Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon, 133 Nev. ---, 405 P.3d 641 (2017). The district court's conclusion that a sale for 6% of the fair market value, with the palpable unfairness of the stay violation in existence at the time of the sale – which remained a stay violation for years thereafter throughout this case – should not be disturbed.

#### **Standard of Review**

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment de novo. *Wood* v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

#### Argument

## I. The District Court Did Not Err by Invalidating the Sale on Equitable Grounds.

A district court, sitting in equity, may set aside an otherwise valid foreclosure sale if (1) the sales price was inadequate; and (2) there is evidence of fraud, unfairness, or oppression related to the sale. *Golden v. Tomiyasu*, 79 Nev. 503, 514 (1963); *Long v. Towne*, 98 Nev. 11, 13 (1982); *Shadow Wood HOA v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp.*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1111 (2016).

The Court's task in this matter is to assess whether the HOA sale, including the totality of the facts and circumstances *as they were known*  and considered at the time of the sale, was conducted in a fair and commercially reasonable manner. When analyzed under Nevada Supreme Court authority concerning fairness in this and related contexts, it is clear that the sale was fundamentally unfair and should be invalidated.

This Court has not fully articulated what constitutes "fairness" as it relates to HOA foreclosure sales. Nevada first adopted this rule in *Golden v. Tomiyasu*, where the Nevada Supreme Court held "that inadequacy of price, however gross, is not in itself a sufficient ground for setting aside a trustee's sale legally made; there must be in addition proof of some element of fraud, unfairness, or oppression as accounts for and brings about the inadequacy of price." *Id.* at 514. The *Golden* court went on to clarify that where the price "inadequacy is palpable and great, very slight additional evidence of unfairness or irregularity is sufficient to authorize the granting of the relief sought." *Id.*, at 515, 995 (internal citation omitted, emphasis supplied).

This Court recently reiterated this rule in *Shadow Wood HOA v*. *N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp*, 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1112 (2016). In that case, the court confirmed that Nevada law gives courts "the power, in an appropriate case, to set aside a defective foreclosure sale on equitable grounds." *Id.* at 1111. The *Shadow Wood* court expressly affirmed that an HOA foreclosure sale can be properly set aside where an inadequate price is combined with "a showing of fraud, unfairness or oppression." *Id.* at 1112.

Here, the district court considered the inadequate purchase price, the then-violation of the bankruptcy stay, and, in contrast, U.S. Bank's compliance with the bankruptcy stay to conclude that the sale was unfair, and equity lies in favor of U.S. Bank. This Court should affirm.

## A. The District Court Did Not Err in Holding That the Sales Price Was Inadequate.

The district court correctly held that the purchase price of \$14,000 was inadequate as a matter of law in light of the Property's fair market value at the time of the HOA Foreclosure Sale – \$228,000 as shown by an expert's appraisal – and also by virtue of the \$331,500 amount originally loaned to Parks to purchase the Property. AA 1284.

SFR's purchase price of just \$14,000 for the Property was a mere 6.1% of the Property's fair market value at the time of the HOA Foreclosure Sale. AA 151-54. Notably, SFR does not even dispute this vast disparity. Instead, it argues that there is no such thing as inadequate price or fair market value in the context of a forced sale, only the actual foreclosure-sale price paid. Opening Br. at 27.

But SFR's position is at odds with every other decision acknowledging and evaluating adequacy of price in the context of a foreclosure sale. Its claim that there is no such thing as inadequacy of price cannot be squared with Nevada law examining adequacy of price and gross inadequacy of price in this context. Golden v. Tomiyasu, 79 Nev. 503, 514, 387 P.2d 989, 994 (1963) (allowing sale to be set aside when inadequacy of price is combined with some evidence of fraud, oppression, or unfairness). Long v. Towne, 98 Nev. 11, 13, 639 P.2d 528, 530 (1982) (same); Shadow Wood HOA v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105, 1112 (2016) (same); Nationstar Mortg., LLC v. Saticov Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon, 405 P.3d 641, 648 (Nev. 2017), reh'g denied (Dec. 13, 2017) (holding that "price/fairmarket-value disparity is a relevant consideration because a wide disparity may require less evidence of fraud, unfairness, or oppression to justify setting aside the sale," and that "where the inadequacy is palpable and great, very slight additional evidence of unfairness or irregularity is sufficient to authorize the granting of the relief sought").

These cases all acknowledge that a foreclosure sale price can be inadequate, and if so, that a sale may be invalidated upon a "slight" or modest showing of some evidence of fraud, oppression, or unfairness.

SFR's reliance on *BFP v. Resolution Tr. Corp.*, 511 U.S. 531 (1994) for the proposition that there is no meaningful value other than the price actually paid is misplaced. That decision narrowly analyzed the Bankruptcy Code's requirement that transfers of property by insolvent debtors within one year prior to the filing of a bankruptcy petition be in exchange for "a reasonably equivalent value." *Id.* at 533 (citing 11 U.S.C. § 548(a)(2)). *BFP* explicitly noted that this inquiry was entirely distinct from the question of fair market value.

SFR's position – that there is no such thing as inadequacy of price – is untenable and at odds with more than fifty years of Nevada jurisprudence addressing the validity of forced sales. As such, SFR has offered no sound basis to disturb the district court's ruling that the price SFR paid of 6.1% of the fair market value was inadequate as matter of law. This Court should affirm.

## B. It Is Undisputed That the HOA Sale Violated the Bankruptcy Stay at the Time It Occurred.

The Parks, the Property's owners, filed their bankruptcy petition on August 23, 2010. 1 SA 85-104. That filing triggered the automatic stay under 11 U.S.C. § 362(a)(1). Porter v. Nabors Drilling USA, L.P., 854 F.3d 1057, 1059 (9th Cir. 2017). While the Parks remained in bankruptcy, the HOA, through its agent, NAS, recorded the HOA lien, recorded the HOA Notice of Default, recorded the HOA Sale Notice, and in fact sold the Property. It is undisputed that, unlike U.S. Bank, neither the HOA nor NAS sought or obtained relief from the automatic stay. As such, and as the district court correctly held, at the time of the 2013 HOA Foreclosure Sale, it is beyond dispute that the Sale was void as a violation of the automatic stay. AA 1284-85 (citing LN Mgmt. LLC Ser. 5105 Portraits Place v. Green Tree Serv., 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 55, 399 P.3d 359, 360 (2017)).

## C. SFR's Lack of Actual Knowledge of the Bankruptcy Is Immaterial.

An "automatic stay takes effect on the date the bankruptcy petition was filed, regardless of whether the creditor or other affected entity has knowledge of the bankruptcy and without the necessity of any formal service of process or notice to the creditors." *LN Mgmt. LLC*  Ser. 5105 Portraits Place v. Green Tree Serv., 133 Nev. Adv. Op. 55, 399P.3d 359, 360 (August 3, 2017). An "automatic stay is effective against the world, regardless of notice." *Id.* 

Further, SFR's claim that the district court erred by noting that the existence of the bankruptcy proceedings was "not unavailable" to SFR, the HOA, or NAS is baseless. SFR complains that "to obtain such knowledge, one would need a federal PACER (federal court system) account)." Opening Br. at 9. But a PACER account is "available to anyone who registers for an account." See PACER home page, available at https://www.pacer.gov (last visited July 22, 2018). Far from the exclusive membership SFR makes a PACER account out to be, PACER's home page represents "more than one million users," have PACER accounts including "attorneys, pro se filers, government agencies, trustees, data collectors, researchers, educational and financial institutions, commercial enterprises, the media, and the general public." Id.

As the sophisticated purchaser of literally hundreds of properties at HOA foreclosure sales, bankruptcy information was well within SFR's access such that its failure to engage in any due diligence is not

-17-

for lack of ability. Further, it is widely considered a best practice for any foreclosure or collections agent to check for bankruptcy filings before beginning foreclosure or collection *See, e.g., In re McClure,* 430 B.R. 358, 365 (Bankr. N.D. Tex. 2010) (acknowledging "bankruptcy scrub" was part of prudent debt collection practice); *In re Waswick,* 212 B.R. 350, 353 (Bankr. D.N.D. 1997) ("Thorough and prudent collection practices include checking the bankruptcy court's records for those who have filed bankruptcy.")

While SFR did not conduct the sale, it certainly had the means to determine whether the Property was subject to a bankruptcy stay, and whether it should elect to purchase a Property in violation of the stay at the time. It did not do so, and this Court should disregard its current protestations of a lack of actual knowledge as irrelevant to the policy the automatic stay.

## D. The Bankruptcy Court's Retroactive Annulment Order Is Neither Dispositive, Nor Evidence That the HOA Foreclosure Sale Was Conducted Fairly.

SFR's entire appeal hangs on the false premise that the annulment of the bankruptcy stay governs every aspect of the district court's analysis. This argument overstates the reach of the bankruptcy court's ruling. The bankruptcy court's decision to retroactively annul the automatic stay does not remove the basis for U.S. Bank's position that the HOA sale was void, nor is it evidence that the HOA sale was conducted fairly.

# 1. The Bankruptcy Court's Annulment Order Is of Limited Scope and Effect.

Bankruptcy courts have authority to make exceptions to, or to annul an automatic stay under 11 U.S.C. § 362(d). In re Fjeldsted, 293 B.R. 12, 24–25 (9th Cir. B.A.P. 2003). Here, without timely notice to U.S. Bank's current counsel, the California bankruptcy court retroactively annulled the stay. AA 1142. That court ultimately held that "[a]s to Movant, its successors, transferees and assigns, the stay of 11 U.S.C. § 362(a) is: "[t]erminated as to the Debtor and the Debtor's bankruptcy estate" and "[a]nnulled retroactively to the bankruptcy petition date. Any post-petition acts taken by Movant to enforce its remedies regarding the Property do not constitute a violation of the stay." AA 1142. The bankruptcy court further held that those holdings applied not only to Movant (SFR), but to the HOA and NAS. AA 1143.

SFR's position – that the bankruptcy court's order is dispositive as to the legality of the sale under Nevada law – is incorrect and

overstates its effect. SFR first correctly claims that retroactive annulment means that it is not liable for any stay violation. However, SFR goes on to extrapolate that the situation "is the same as if the Association had obtained the Bankruptcy Court's permission to lift the stay and then proceeded with the its [sic] foreclosure. Put simply, no stay violation ever occurred." Opening Br. at 11. This is inaccurate. By virtue of the retroactive annulment, SFR is no longer subject to liability for a stay violation, and the sale is no longer void under bankruptcy law, but that ruling does not undo the past or determine the reasonability of the sale at the time it occurred under Nevada law. That is up to the Nevada state courts, not the federal bankruptcy Nothing prevented the district court from considering the courts. fairness of the sale under Nevada law – as it actually occurred.

> 2. Bankruptcy Court's Weighing of the Equities in the Stay Relief Does Not Displace the District Court's Analysis, and Is Not Binding on This Court.

Bankruptcy courts in the Ninth Circuit evaluate whether cause exists for annulment of the automatic stay by using a "balancing of equities" test. *Fjeldsted*, 293 B.R. at 24–25. The *Fjeldsted* court articulated twelve factors that are to be used as a "framework and not a scorecard to be mechanistically applied." *Id.* at 25.

In this case, the bankruptcy court noted that several of the *Fjeldsted* factors simply did not apply to this case because the debtors (the Parks) were not involved in the reopened bankruptcy case. The bankruptcy court also noted that the ninth factor (how quickly SFR moved for annulment) weighed against SFR as it waited a considerable time to file its annulment motion after realizing that it had violated the automatic stay. AA 1231. However, the bankruptcy court noted that the seventh (ease of restoring parties to status quo ante), eighth (cost of annulment to debtors and creditors), and twelfth (judicial economy and efficiencies) factors favored annulment other because denving annulment would result in voiding the sale to SFR, which would then create a chain of events and complications to undo the sale. AA 1231. The bankruptcy court was apparently concerned that if the sale was deemed void, SFR might seek reimbursement from the debtor and/or U.S. Bank for the alleged funds it expended in rehabilitating the property.

The Bankruptcy Court concluded that it would be difficult to restore the status quo ante. That factor, coupled with the fact that the debtors themselves had no position on the outcome of the annulment motion, and that the bankruptcy estate, the debtor, and all other creditors were bystanders to the two party dispute between SFR and U.S. Bank, led the Court to grant annulment as it saw *no bankruptcy purpose* furthered by the denial of the annulment motion. Indeed, the bankruptcy court made clear that its decision on the stay relief was narrow, noting that the "pivotal issues" in the dispute between SFR and U.S. Bank "are not before this court, nor should they be." The bankruptcy court went on to comment that, "the court sees no bankruptcy or estate purpose furthered by such an approach, particularly since the estate, the debtor and all other creditors are (and have been for years) mere uninterested bystanders in this two-party drama."

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